Nos. 23-CV-0150; 23-CV-0151

# In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals

### CHASTLETON COOPERATIVE ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

ν.

### KAWAMOTO NOTES, LLC, FEDERAL HOME LOAN MORTGAGE CORPORATION, RFB PROPERTIES II, LLC, BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING, LLC,

Appellees.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division No. 2019 CA 008500-B (Hon. Ebony Scott, Judge)

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Michael J. Goecke LERCH, EARLY & BREWER, CHARTERED 7600 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 700 Bethesda MD 20814 (301) 986-1300 mjgoecke@lerchearly.com

Counsel for Appellant



### PARTIES AND COUNSEL

### Case No. 23-CV-0150 (Consolidated with 23-CV-0151)

## STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND APPELLATE JURISDICTION

This is a consolidated appeal from two separate but related cases in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. In each case, the Court awarded partial summary judgment that is appropriate for review under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(2)(c) because the orders change or affect the possession of property.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Superior Court erred when it granted partial summary judgment in favor of Appellee RFB Properties II, LLC where the record shows that Appellant Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc., did not receive proper notice of or approve the foreclosure sale as required by the District of Columbia Code or the operative contracts.
- 2. Whether the Superior Court erred when it granted summary judgment in favor of RFB Properties II, LLC and interpreted the rights of the parties under the Recognition Agreement even though RFB Properties II, LLC was not a party to the Recognition Agreement, was not an assignee of the Recognition Agreement, and had no standing to enforce the Recognition Agreement.
- 3. Whether the Superior Court erred when it issued a declaratory judgment in favor or RFB Properties II, LLC even though RFB Properties II, LLC contends it has assigned its rights relating to this dispute to its sole member, who is not a party to this litigation.
- 4. Whether the Superior Court erred when it granted Kawamoto Notes, LLC partial summary judgment and declared the rights of the parties under a Recognition Agreement when Kawamoto was not a party to the Recognition Agreement and there is a genuine dispute over whether the Note or the Recognition Agreement were assigned to Kawamoto.
- 5. Whether the Superior Court erred when it issued a money judgment in favor of Kawamoto for \$240,750 for breach of fiduciary duty when there is a genuine dispute whether:
  - a. Chastleton owed any duty to Kawamoto;
  - b. Kawamoto has any rights under the Recognition Agreement;
  - c. Chastleton has a duty to use rent proceeds to pay the cooperative; and because
  - d. The statute of limitations precludes Kawamoto from seeking alleged damages incurred before December 31, 2016.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. The Chastleton Housing Cooperative

The Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc. (the "Chastleton") is a housing cooperative that owns a historic building at 1701 16<sup>th</sup> Street, NW. A20. On June 12, 2007, Stephanie Sipek ("Sipek") obtained membership shares of capital stock in Chastleton for Unit 654 (the "Unit"). A21. Sipek financed the purchase of the shares through a mortgage-like security interest from Bank of America ("BOA"). A148. As part of this transaction, Sipek, Chastleton, and BOA executed a three-party Recognition Agreement that is central to this dispute. A173-76.

The Recognition Agreement requires Chastleton to issue two documents evidencing Sipek's ownership interest in the Chastleton: a Stock Certificate and an Occupancy Agreement. A173. Together, the Stock Certificate and the Occupancy Agreement are referred to as the "Proprietary Documents." A173. Chastleton issued the Stock Certificate to Sipek for the Unit, and Chastleton and Sipek entered into the Occupancy Agreement, which authorized and governed Sipek's use of the Unit. A178; A180-88.

That same day, Sipek and BOA executed a Note (A166-68) and a Loan Security Agreement to finance her purchase. A169-71. The Loan Security Agreement provides BOA with a security interest in the Stock and the

Occupancy Agreement (referred to as the Lease), and required Sipek to give possession of both the Stock Certificate and the Lease to BOA to hold as Security:

Borrower has simultaneously, with this Agreement, deposited with the Lender the Stock and the Lease and as security for the payment of the debt, Borrower hereby grants to the Lender a security interest in, and a general lien upon, said Stock and Lease and all personal property and fixtures (other than household furniture and furnishings) of the debtor now or hereafter attached to, or used in connection with, the apartment (collectively called the "SECURITY").

A169.

The Stock and the Lease, along with certain personal property and fixtures in the Unit constituted the collateral, or Security, for the loan. A169.

Section IV of the Loan Security Agreement provided that, "if an event of default has occurred . . . [BOA] may . . . sell the Security at public or private cash sale . . ." A169. The Loan Service Agreement does not reference the Recognition Agreement, or make the Recognition Agreement part of the Security. A169-71. This is consistent with the Recognition Agreement provision in which Chastleton "consents to the pledge and assignment to Lender by Borrower of the *Proprietary Documents* issued by the Corporation, and relating to the Unit, as collateral for the Loan." (emphasis added) A173. Under both the Recognition Agreement and the Loan Security Agreement, the

collateral for Sipek's loan is limited to the Stock, the Lease, and personal property. A173; A169.

The Recognition Agreement provides BOA a right to foreclose on Sipek's Stock and Lease in the event of a default, but limits that right to certain conditions. A174. Critically, the Recognition Agreement precludes BOA from foreclosing on Sipek's collateral unless it first obtains approval from Chastleton:

Without the approval of [Chastleton] (if such approval is required by the Operative Documents or the Proprietary Documents), Lender shall have no power or right to transfer, sell or assign or dispose of the Proprietary Documents or to sublease the Unit.

### A174.

The Recognition Agreement also recognizes that Chastleton "is the owner in fee simple of the land and improvements thereon of which said Units are a part. . ." A173. And that "[Chastleton] has a right of first refusal in case of sale or foreclosure of the Unit." A173. Chastleton's right of first refusal is also addressed on the second page of the Recognition Agreement, which allows Chastleton to "exercise an option to purchase any Proprietary Documents obtained and sold, assigned or transferred by Lender pursuant to foreclosure or other proceedings related to enforcement of the Loan obligations. . ." A174.

### B. Sipek defaults under the Occupancy Agreement and the Note.

Around January 2013, Sipek failed to pay her monthly Rent and Maintenance to Chastleton and defaulted under the Occupancy Agreement. A21; A313. Given Sipek's default, on April 17, 2013, Chastleton initiated a landlord and tenant action against Sipek, and on August 3, 2013, Sipek surrendered possession of the Unit to Chastleton. A230. Sipek also failed to pay her monthly obligations to BOA and defaulted on that agreement. A37; A51; A61; A230; A373.

Under the Recognition Agreement, upon a default, BOA had the right to request that Chastleton cancel Sipek's Proprietary Documents and issue new ones in the name of BOA or its agent:

in the event there is a default under the Loan, and Lender becomes owner of the Proprietary Documents pursuant to remedies provided in the Loan instruments or otherwise, [Chastleton] will recognize and approve such ownership, and within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice and delivery of the Proprietary Documents from Lender (as executed by Borrower and pledged or assigned to Lender), the Corporation will cancel such Proprietary Documents and reissue such Proprietary Documents to Lender or Lenders' non-corporate designee as appropriate. . .

A174 (emphasis added).

There is no document in the record showing that BOA provided Chastleton with written notice or delivered the Proprietary Documents to Chastleton.

Instead, it appears that at some point BOA assigned the Note to M&T Bank, as evidenced by a stamp on the bottom of the Note stating, "Pay to the

Order of M&T Bank Without Recourse." A168. Above that stamp is another stamp stating "PAY TO THE ORDER OF:" followed by a blank line above the words "WITHOUT RECOURSE." A168. The stamp is not dated but is signed by Meghan A. Halpin, Assistant Vice President for M&T Bank. A168. The Note is not endorsed to Freddie Mac, and it is unclear how or when Freddie Mac obtained any interest in the Note. *See* A168.

Freddie Mac has alleged that it "and Bayview previously held an interest in the Property at issue in the action as the former investor and servicer respectively, of a mortgage loan held by the previous owner, Stephanie Sipek." A26. But no party has provided any documents establishing this allegation. Freddie Mac also alleged "that Bank of America transferred its interest in the underlying Sipek mortgage loan to Freddie Mac, and that Bayview subsequently serviced said loan." A29. There are no documents in the record establishing this allegation either.

Neither Freddie Mac nor any other party submitted evidence establishing that Freddie Mac owned this Note. RFB contends that in 2015, Bayview, purportedly on behalf of Freddie Mac, initiated foreclosure proceedings for Sipek's shares in the cooperative and her occupancy agreement. A71. RFB

has submitted no documents or affidavits substantiating this allegation, and it is unclear when, how, or what interest Freddie Mac may have obtained.<sup>1</sup>

Nonetheless, it appears Freddie Mac or Bayview hired Harvey West
Auctioneers to conduct a foreclosure sale, and that Harvey West prepared and
published a notice for sale by auction to take place on June 9, 2015. A262.

There are no documents in the record showing that Freddie Mac, Bayview, or
any other entity provided notice to or obtained consent from Chastleton before
the foreclosure sale. The notice of sale advertising the auction makes clear that
the purported sale was limited to Sipek's Shares in the Chastleton, and her
rights under the Occupancy Agreement:

All the membership shares described in said Security Agreement being Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc. shares of Capital Stock of the Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc. allocated to 1701 16<sup>th</sup> Street, NW, Apt. #654, Washington, DC 20009, together with all rights, duties and obligations under the terms of a certain Occupancy Agreement dated June 2, 2007, between Stephanie Suzanne Sipek and the Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc. Subject to the terms, provision and conclusions contained in the Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws, Occupancy Agreement and House Rules of the Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc.

(emphasis added). A262.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On September 7, 2018, RFB allegedly entered into a confidential settlement agreement with Freddie Mac and Bayview, in which RFB released all claims against them. A137. Freddie Mac and Bayview then moved to dismiss the crossclaims filed against them, which the Court granted on December 3, 2020.

The foreclosure notice did not include sale of the underlying Note, nor did it include any rights under the Recognition Agreement. A262-64. The Memorandum of Purchase indicates that RFB Properties II, LLC, by its member Russell Brown, was the winning bidder in the amount of \$151,000 and a deposit of \$10,000. A262.

The Memorandum of Purchase provides that "[t]he property is sold in "as is" condition without any warranties, express or implied, and subject to all easements, liens, covenants, and restrictions of record. A263. The Notice further provided the sale was subject to all conditions, liens, restrictions and agreements of record affecting same and subject to any assessments including assessments pursuant to DC Code Sections 12-19-3.13. A262; A331. The sale was also subject to the terms, provisions and conclusions contained in the Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws, Occupancy Agreement and House Rules of the Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc. *Id.* Under Chastleton By-Laws, "No assignment of the Proprietary Documents is effective without Board approval." A420.

# C. Freddie Mac did not provide notice to or obtain the consent of Chastleton before conducting a foreclosure sale.

The Recognition Agreement and the Occupancy Agreement prohibit any foreclosure unless the BOA (or its successor) first provides notice to Chastleton, and obtains Chastleton's approval. A452; A460.

There are no documents in the record regarding any notice that anyone provided to Chastleton about the foreclosure. To the contrary, the record is clear that Freddie Mac failed to provide notice to Chastleton. On January 10, 2019, Brown, on behalf of RFB, signed a document acknowledging that: (1) Article V of the Occupancy Agreement required Chastleton to be provided with notice of any foreclosure sale; (2) the Recognition Agreement required Chastleton's prior approval to any foreclosure; and (3) that RFB acknowledges that Freddie Mac did not provide notice or obtain approval from Chastleton:

RFB Properties further acknowledges that Article V of the Occupancy Agreement that Stephanie Sipek ("Sipek") and Chastleton Cooperative Association, Inc. (the "Cooperative") entered into on or about June 12, 2007 requires that the Cooperative be provided with notice of any sale or transfer of the Property. In addition, Section C of the Recognition Agreement that Bank of America, N.A., the Cooperative, and Sipek entered into in connection with the Property states that the Cooperative must approve any transfer or sale of the Stock Certificate and Occupancy Agreement that were issued in connection with the Property. RFB Properties understands that Freddie Mac did not obtain this approval from the Cooperative before conveying its interest in the Property to RFB Properties, and RFB Properties hereby releases and waives any claims that it may possess against Freddie Mac based upon Freddie Mac's failure to obtain any approvals from the Cooperative before conveying its interest in the Property to RFB Properties.

A279.

This shows Freddie Mac violated Article V of the Occupancy Agreement and Section C of the Recognition Agreement by failing to provide notice or obtain approval from the Chastleton. A279; A452; A460. Because Freddie

Mac did not notify Chastleton about the foreclosure or obtain the Chastleton's consent to proceed with a foreclosure, the purported sale was wrongful.

### D. Chastleton's efforts to resolve the contract violations.

Despite the lack of notice and improper foreclosure proceedings, the Chastleton was willing to allow the sale to proceed, provided the sales proceeds were used to satisfy the amounts owed by Sipek. RFB refused to agree to these terms, did not pay the purchase price, and did not proceed to settlement on the Shares or the Occupancy Agreement. This litigation ensued.

### E. Chastleton's suit to declare the wrongful foreclosure sale invalid.

In its Complaint against Freddie Mac, Bayview, and RFB, Chastleton sought an order declaring the foreclosure improper, or, in the alternative, that Chastleton was entitled to enforce its lien for unpaid assessments, and fees from the sales proceeds. A20-25.

### F. RFB's Counterclaim to enforce the Recognition Agreement.

RFB filed a counterclaim and cross-claims seeking an order declaring the sale to be valid, and asking the Court to declare the rights of the parties under the *Recognition Agreement*. A36. Although RFB asks the Court to interpret the Recognition Agreement in its favor, it does not allege that it acquired any rights to enforce the Recognition Agreement, or explain how it has standing to enforce the terms of that document. *See* A35-42. Instead, RFB side steps this

critical omission, and requests *inter alia* an order under the "Proprietary Documents and associated Proprietary Lease (free of all liens excepting a proportional share of any underlying mortgage upon the entire building) of Brown, FHLMC, Bayview, Chastleton, and, if any, Sipec (sic)." A41-42.

RFB's claim is even more baffling because it concedes that any rights it may have had under the documents were assigned to its principal, Russell. F. Brown: "RFB is a District of Columbia limited liability company, whose interest in the property and proceedings subject to this action have been assigned to Russell F. Brown, individually." A36. RFB repeats this allegation, stating "Subsequent to such foreclosure action, RFB Properties, the successful bidder, assigned its as purchaser rights to Brown." A39. Although RFB repeatedly asserts that Brown is the property party in interest, he is not a party to this litigation.

### G. RFB's Motions for Summary Judgment and Reconsideration

On August 27, 2018, RFB filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which the Court denied on November 15, 2018. On September 21, 2019, RFB filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment arguing essentially the same points it argued in its first motion, which the Court denied again on June 21, 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RFB again confuses the significance of the key documents—the "Proprietary Documents" include the Shares and the Occupancy Agreement; there is no document called a "Proprietary Lease."

On November 16, 2022, RFB filed a Motion for Reconsideration, making two major arguments. RFB first argued the Court erred in denying Summary Judgment because the Court's order did not focus on "the fundamental issues" of the "rent and maintenance" charges. It also argued denying summary judgment would "set a very bad precedent for all Cooperative Association and Lender transactions going forward." A144. Both arguments lack merit, but more importantly, they fail to establish that the underlying foreclosure sale was proper.

RFB argues that "there is no dispute but that [Freddie Mac] properly instituted foreclosure proceedings against Sipek due to her default in her payment under the Note." A46. This is not true. Chastleton sued RFB because the Freddie Mac foreclosure proceedings were not proper. A22; see also A59. In addition, Freddie Mac has conceded that it failed to provide notice or obtain permission as required under the By-Laws and the Recognition Agreement. A279.

RFB does not address this admission, nor does it support its conclusory statement that "[a]fter notice and advertising, the foreclosure was conducted in the ordinary course . . ." A46-47. RFB's position is further strained because it wants to "limit" Chastleton's right to recover unpaid assessment based on the Recognition Agreement to which RFB has no rights to enforce. A46.

RFB ignores the critical issues that undermine its claims. It fails to address whether Chastleton received notice or provided consent to the foreclosure. It also fails to establish that RFB has standing to enforce the Recognition Agreement.

RFB further conflates the issues by making policy arguments about why the Court should enforce the Recognition Agreement to RFB's benefit, ignoring the fact that RFB has no rights under the Recognition Agreement. RFB argues (without any support) that the Recognition Agreement is a "Standard" agreement entered into between Buyers, Lenders, and Associations during the real estate transaction." A144. RFB further argues that "Lenders will not lend to Buyers of a Cooperative Association, if in the case of buyer default, the Lender is subject to unlimited maintenance and fees tacked on by the Association (who has taken over physical possession), as well as Attorney's fees tacked on by the Cooperatives Attorneys." A145. Any policy arguments compelling the Court to rule in RFB's favor to benefit Lenders is misplaced because RFB is not a Lender and the lender is not even a party to this case.<sup>3</sup> This case is not only about Lender's rights. It is about whether the foreclosure sale violated Chastleton's By-Laws, the Occupancy Agreement, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court dismissed BOA's putative successor-in-interest Freddie Mac on December 3, 2020.

Recognition Agreement, or the District of Columbia Code. It is also about whether RFB has any right or interest in the Recognition Agreement.

RFB provides no evidence showing that it stands in the shoes of BOA or its successors. Both RFB's Counterclaim and the Memorandum of Sale from the purported foreclosure sale, make clear that RFB bid only on the Sipek Stock Shares, and the Occupancy Agreement, which were the Security under the Note. A331-32. RFB did not purchase the Note or any interest in the Recognition Agreement. As RFB acknowledges in its Counterclaim, the "Note Holder" was another entity to which RFB "provided notice" that it was prepared to close on the sale. A39. So while RFB's motion and its case generally depends on having the Court limit Chastleton's right to recover unpaid fees based on RFB's interpretation of the Recognition Agreement, the undisputed facts show that RFB was not a signatory to that agreement, and that neither BOA, nor its successors, transferred any right in the Recognition Agreement to RFB. See A340-43.

### H. Kawamoto's arguments

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