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

ambiguous or subject to a different interpretation. A409-A410. The plain language of the Recognition Agreement is consistent with the trial court's ruling.

Based on the trial court record, declaratory judgment as to Kawamoto's standing, and entitlement to the foreclosure sale proceeds was proper and should be affirmed. A590.

## II. Chastleton Cannot Cure its Trial Court Deficiencies on Appeal.

In light of the above, Chastleton attempts to improperly raise a litany of new arguments on appeal that were not made below, and thus, not properly preserved. "It is a well established principle of appellate review that arguments not made at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal." E.g., District of Columbia v. Califano, 647 A.2d 761, 765 (D.C. 1994). Appellate review is confined to the factual disputes raised before the lower court and a party "cannot raise new factual disputes for the first time on appeal." See Futrell v. Dept. of Labor Federal Credit Union, 816 A.2d 793, 802 n. 10 (D.C. 2003). Deviation from this rule is appropriate only in "exceptional situations" and to prevent "a clear miscarriage of justice from the record." Id. (quoting Williams v. Gerstenfeld, 514 A.2d 1172, 1177 (D.C. 1986) (internal quotations omitted)). These exceptional circumstances generally occur when "the issue is purely one of law, particularly if the factual record is complete and a remand for further factual development would serve no purpose, the issue has been fully briefed, and no party would be unfairly prejudiced." Fairman v. D.C.,

934 A.2d 438, 446 (D.C. 2007) (internal quotations omitted). In short, absent exceptional circumstances, this Court's review is limited to evidence and argument that was advanced below.

Chastleton ignores these limitations and attempts to argue the existence of disputed facts that were not actually disputed below. Appellant Br. at pp. 20-22. Indeed, the trial court expressly acknowledged that Chastleton failed to properly submit a statement of material facts that were in dispute, but nevertheless declined to accept Kawamoto's position as being conceded. A585. On appeal, Chastleton attempts to obtain a do-over on this procedure by listing out a series of facts that it contends are in dispute. Appellant Br. at pp. 20-21. None of the purported factual disputes were alleged below and thus, cannot be asserted at this juncture. As such, Chastleton's refashioned Statement of Facts does not create a dispute of fact.

Chastleton also raises a series of new substantive arguments that were also not preserved. *See* Appellant Br. pp. 38-43. Nowhere in the two-page opposition does it contain any argument on: (i) Kawamoto's inability to enforce the Recognition Agreement; (ii) Chastleton having no duty to Kawamoto as a mortgagee in possession; and (iii) any defense of offset or statute of limitations to limit the monetary judgment. *Compare* A409-A410, *with* Appellant Br. at pp. 38-43. Likewise, Chastleton's opposition contained a complete lack of evidentiary support

for these arguments, so these positions could not have even been gleaned from the record that the trial court considered.

There is also no reason for the Court to deviate from its well-established rule that it will only consider arguments raised below. *E.g., District of Columbia v. Califano*, 647 A.2d 761, 765 (D.C. 1994). Such an exception to this rule of preservation does not apply here because the newly raised issues are factual in nature. As discussed *supra*, the underlying facts concerning the foreclosure sale and Kawamoto's possession of the Note are not in dispute. Kawamoto would also be unfairly prejudiced if this case were remanded to the trial court to essentially allow Chastleton a do-over on an issue it hardly put effort into initially. *See* A409-410 (the two-page Opposition); *see also supra* at n. 1. The Court should not consider any of the new arguments that are raised by Chastleton.

## III. Chastleton's New Substantive Arguments Fail as a Matter of Law.

Assuming *arguendo* that the new arguments that were raised by Chastleton were preserved, they still fail as a matter of law. There are procedural and substantive deficiencies with each of Chastleton's newly minted positions. The weight of authority shows that none of these positions are viable, and in fact, some of the issues raised are not even properly on appeal. Accordingly, as set forth below, none of Chastleton's new arguments provide a basis to disturb the lower court's ruling.

#### A. <u>Kawamoto has Standing to Enforce the Note.</u>

Chastleton claims for the first time on appeal that Kawamoto cannot establish its standing unless it explains *how* it came into possession of the Note. Appellant Br. at pp. 37-38. Chastleton's position is based on a misinterpretation of the Court's ruling in *Logan v. Lasalle Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 80 A.3d 1014 (D.C. 2013). In actuality, *Logan* is both factually and procedurally distinguishable from this case for several reasons. *First*, the appeal in *Logan* was taken from a lower court's granting of a preliminary motion to dismiss. *Logan*, 80 A.3d at 1018. The lower court in *Logan* dismissed appellant's claim that appellee did not have standing to foreclose based on Superior Court Rule 12(b)(6), "or alternatively on summary judgment grounds, without elaborating its reasoning." *Id.* at 1025. Unlike in this case, where discovery was complete at the time of summary judgment, in Logan, the dismissal occurred at the infancy of the proceeding before a factual record could be developed.

Second, the factual basis that supported this Court's decision to remand in Logan is also distinct from the circumstances in this matter. The standing issue in Logan was whether appellee had possessory rights over the note endorsed in blank at the time it conducted the foreclosure sale. See id. Because the timing of the note's transfer remained unclear,<sup>4</sup> and this fact is dispositive of whether appellee had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Certain facts called the timing of the note's transfer into question, such as the notice of foreclosure listed a different holder and different trustees, which contradicted appellee's production of an affidavit claiming that it had current possession of the note. *Id*.

standing to foreclose at the time of the auction, the lower court remanded the case to allow the parties to cultivate "further factual development and legal analysis" in discovery. *Id.* Conversely, the facts here are not in dispute. At no point in time has Chastleton argued or submitted evidence to suggest that Lender did not have standing to initiate a foreclose at the time of sale. Indeed, Bank of America, the original beneficiary under the Security Interest,<sup>5</sup> conducted the foreclosure sale on June 9, 2015, at a point in time when it was the undisputed holder of the Note. A374, A540.6 It was only after the auction that the Lender transferred its rights in the Security Interest and Recognition Agreement. A555-A558 (assignments are dated in 2018 and 2019). Chastleton does not dispute this fact either. A606 (stating that "Bank of America assigned all of its rights in the Security Interest..."). In short, the facts concerning the foreclosure sale itself are not at issue here as they were in Kawamoto's standing to enforce this Note post-foreclosure and its Logan. entitlement to collect proceeds therefrom are entirely distinguishable from the standing issue in *Logan*.

*Third*, Chastleton misstates the holding from *Logan* to seemingly require that Kawamoto explain how it came into possession of the Note in order to overcome a

\_

Bank of America is both the original Noteholder, beneficiary under the Loan Security Agreement, and party to the Recognition Agreement. App. A444-A454.

In fact, Chastleton admits in its Motion for Reconsideration that the Lender was the Noteholder authorized to conduct the foreclosure sale at the time of auction. A605.

fact dispute as to its standing to enforce the Note. *See* Appellant Br. at pp. 37-38. The Court in *Logan* did not make such a sweeping ruling and rather, confined its holding to the particular facts of the particular case. Indeed, this Court noted that its decision was based on a lack of clarity in the record and a deficiency of proof that was submitted in support of the motion to dismiss. *Logan v. Lasalle Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 80 A.3d 1014, 1025 (D.C. 2013). That stands in contrast to the present record which clearly reflects that Bank of America was the holder of the Note when the foreclosure was sale was conducted, and that Kawamoto is the holder of the Note now. A579. Simply put, the factual distinctions between *Logan* and the present case render it inapplicable.

#### B. Kawamoto has Standing to Enforce the Recognition Agreement.

Chastleton argues for the first time on appeal that because there is no assignment of the Recognition Agreement to Kawamoto, it has no right to enforce the contract. Appellant Br. at pp. 38-39. This argument fails as a matter of law. The transfer of a note carries with it the secured interest, without the need for a formal assignment memorializing the transfer. *See Chase Plaza Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 98 A.3d 166, 170 n. 2 (D.C. 2014); *Rose v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 73 A.3d 1047, 1052 (D.C. 2013); *Smith v. Wells Fargo Bank*, 991 A.2d 20, 30 n. 19 (D.C. 2010). Thus, when Kawamoto obtained physical possession of the Note, the right to enforce the Loan Security Agreement followed.

Like the Loan Security Agreement, the Recognition Agreement also follows the transfer of the Note. See Rose v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 73 A.3d 1047, 1052 (D.C. 2013); ALH Properties Ten, Inc. v. 306-100th Street Owners Corp., 191 A.D.2d 1, 15-16 (1993)<sup>7</sup> ("The intent of the Recognition Agreement is plainly to preserve the lender's security interest in the shares and proprietary lease...."); see also Carpenter v. Longan, 83 U.S. 271, 275 (1872) (the transfer of the note carries with it the security as a matter of equity). Indeed, this Court has acknowledged that it generally looks to and applies the "well-settled law of mortgages" in the context of cooperative units. See Watergate West, Inc. v. Barclays Bank, S.A., 759 A.2d 169, 176 (D.C. 2000). Here, the Recognition Agreement is an essential part of the collateral and therefore attaches to the Note. By its very terms, the Recognition Agreement memorializes a series of representations from Chastleton to induce the Lender to loan Sipek the purchase money funds for the Shares. A451. All of these representations relate, either directly or indirectly, to the collateral that is securing the Note. It would be entirely antithetical to the purpose of the Recognition Agreement if it becomes unenforceable upon transfer of the instrument it secures (i.e. the Note) as Chastleton suggests. The right to enforce the Recognition Agreement travels with the rights associated with the Note, and Kawamoto had

New York caselaw is instructive on parties' respective rights in cooperatives as they are prevalent within that state. *See First Sav. Bank of Virginia v. Barclays Bank, S.A.*, 618 A.2d 134, 137 n. 8 (D.C. 1992).

standing to enforce both.

#### The Recognition Agreement Governs the Distribution of Sale Proceeds.

Chastleton argues for the first time on appeal that the Loan Security Agreement governs the parties' entitlement to the foreclosure sale proceeds.8 Appellant Br. at p. 39. This position is at odds with Chastleton's own governing documents. In examining the obligations that govern the parties, the Court should first consider Chastleton's own bylaws. See Watergate West, Inc. v. Barclays Bank, S.A., 759 A.2d 169, 175 (D.C. 2000). Chastleton's Bylaws explicitly provide that when a recognition agreement is approved by the board as required by a Lender, "the terms of the recognition agreement prevail" if there is any inconsistency with the Bylaws. A487. Notably, the Bylaws do not reference the Loan Security Agreement nor does Chastleton proffer any legal authority to substantiate its contention that its terms control.9 Id. Considering the plain language in Chastleton's own governing documents which state that the Recognition Agreement controls the rights of the parties, its terms are to govern the distribution of proceeds from the foreclosure sale. See Dyer v. Bilaal, 983 A.2d 349, 355 (D.C. 2009). Based on the foregoing, the trial

In its brief, the Chastleton refers to the "Loan Service Agreement" not the "Loan Security Agreement." Kawamoto is unaware of any document titled Loan Service Agreement and the portions of the record that Chastleton cites to refer to the Loan Security Agreement. Kawamoto will assume that the references to Loan Service Agreement are mere scrivener's errors.

It is unclear why Chastleton would rely on the Loan Security Agreement, to which it is not a party, to govern its right to proceeds at the Lender's auction except for the fact that the sale provision has more favorable language for distribution therein. See id.

court correctly interpreted the Recognition Agreement to adjudicate the parties' entitlement to proceeds from the sale.

#### IV. The Money Judgment is Not an Appealable Interlocutory Order.

The money judgment is not ripe for appellate consideration. Section 11-721(a)(2) of the District of Columbia Code provides that this Court has jurisdiction to review appeals of final orders and judgments, as well as interlocutory orders that change the possession property. Final judgment has not been entered in this case. A580-91 (summary judgment was not entered on Kawamoto's claim for tortious interference). The declaratory judgment that was entered is properly before the Court because it is an interlocutory order that causes a change in possession property. A590. Conversely, the money judgment, which stems from Chastleton's breach of its fiduciary duty, does not alter the possession of any property and it is not a final judgment. D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(2); Farrow v. J. Crew Grp. Inc., 12 A.3d 28, 35 (D.C. 2011) (noting that a final judgment must "dispose of all claims" and that a judgment that resolves "fewer than all claims against all parties...is not appealable"). As such, the money judgment is not ripe for appellate consideration and this Court lacks jurisdiction to review that portion of the trial court's order.

### V. The Trial Court Record Supports Entry of the Money Judgment.

Even though the issue is not properly before the Court, the record confirms

Kawamoto's entitlement to a money judgment based on Chastleton's breach of

fiduciary duty. When a cooperative association regains possession of a unit due to a member defaulting on its dues, the cooperative stands as a mortgagee in possession of the unit. See Watergate West, Inc. v. Barclays Bank, S.A., 759 A.2d 169, 176 (D.C. 2000). This Court has acknowledged, "[i]t is well settled that equity imposes the duty upon a mortgagee in possession or a trustee not only to account for the rents and profits actually received, but also those that could have been received had there been an exercise of reasonable care and diligence." *Id.* at 177. This means that the mortgagee in possession – in this case, Chastleton – must "manage the property in a reasonable and careful manner so as to keep it in a good state of preservation and productivity" and is liable for the "fair rental value" if it fails to do so. Id. Importantly, included with these obligations is the requirement that the amounts the mortgagee in possession earns from the Unit are to be applied first to the outstanding mortgage debt. *Id.* at 177-78. As this Court acknowledged in *Watergate*, failure to comply with these obligations constitutes a breach of fiduciary duty. The record below indicates that Chastleton retook possession of the Unit on August 3, 2013 and has maintained possession ever since that time. A425, A507. Chastleton readily admits that it has made no effort to make the Unit profitable, while Kawamoto submitted evidence establishing what profits for the Unit would have been earned if it was appropriately rented. A514-A515. The entry of a money judgment was thus appropriate.

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